IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREW ALLRED,)	
)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NUMBER SC08-2354
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 23, 2007, a grand jury indicted Andrew Richard Allred, the Appellant, with two counts of first-degree premeditated murder of Michael Ruschak and Tiffany Barwick. The grand jury also charged Allred with one count of armed burglary of a dwelling while inflicting great bodily harm or death; one count of aggravated battery with a firearm while inflicting great bodily harm or death; and one count of criminal mischief. (I 33-37) The state filed a notice of their intent to seek the death penalty on October 25, 2007. (I 38)

On April 30, 2008, Appellant signed a written plea agreement withdrawing his previously entered pleas of not guilty and tendered pleas of guilty to all five counts as charged. There was no agreement with the state as to sentence. (I 4547; IV 472-482)

On May 15, 2008, Appellant requested the court to approve his waiver of a jury for the impending penalty phase. Appellant also asked that he be excused from the penalty phase trial itself. These requests were made against the advice of counsel and over the objection of the state. After conducting a colloquy, the trial court granted both of Appellant's requests. (I 52-53;V 490-502)

At a pretrial conference on August 14, 2008, the Appellant first indicated that he wanted to fire the Office of the Public Defender as his counsel. The trial judge indicated that he would address Appellant's request at a subsequent date. (V 512) Appellant subsequently acquiesced in the continued representation by his public defenders, if the trial could occur sooner rather than later. (V 517-526)

The penalty phase was held on September 22 - 24, 2008. (III 1-200; IV 201-400; V 401-463) In addition to testimony and evidence, the trial court heard two victim impact statements. (V 451-459)

The trial court conducted a *Spencer¹* hearing on October 2, 2008. (I 173-174; V 530-542) The state filed written closing argument. (I 177-179) Appellant filed a sentencing memorandum in support of life sentences. (I 180-192) The state filed a written closing argument. (I 177-179)

¹Spencer vs. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

On November 19, 2008, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death on each count of first-degree murder. (I 197; V 543-548) The trial court filed a sentencing order setting forth his findings regarding the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (II 198-212) The trial court found that both murders were committed in a cold, calm, calculated and premeditated manner with any pretense of moral or legal justification. In each case, the trial court gave this particular factor great weight. The trial court also used the contemporaneous murder of each of the two victims to satisfy the prior violent felony conviction aggravating circumstance for each murder. The trial judge gave great weight to this aggravating factor in both cases. Additionally, the trial court found that the murder of Tiffany Barwick was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel which he assigned great weight. Finally, the trial court found that the murder of Michael Ruschak was committed while the defendant was engaged in a burglary. However, since the burglary was merely incidental to Appellant's premeditated plan to kill Michael Ruschak, the court gave this factor little weight. The trial court neglected to find this particular aggravator for the murder of Tiffany Barwick. The trial court rejected the state's proposed aggravator that Appellant knowingly created a great risk to many persons. (II 205-208)

The trial court found the following mitigating circumstances:

3

- Appellant accepted responsibility by entering a plea of guilty to all charges in the indictment (little weight);
- (2) Appellant cooperated with law enforcement by immediately confessing to both murders (moderate weight);
- (3) Appellant suffered from emotional disturbance at time of the murders, although that disturbance was not extreme (moderate weight); and
- (4) Appellant suffered from developmental problems at a young age (little weight).

(II 208-210) The trial court rejected Appellant's age as mitigation and also stated there was no credible evidence that Appellant suffered sexual abuse as a child. The trial court found such a suggestion speculative at best. (II 210)

The trial court sentenced Appellant to natural life for counts three and four and five years imprisonment on count five. (II 213-220) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 11, 2008. (II 236-237) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction

Love, commitment, rejection, jealousy, and rage; these are the facts of this case. The facts surrounding the events of September 24, 2007, are relatively straight forward and undisputed. Andrew Allred was somewhat of a social misfit. He was a loner who had few friends. Even those friends thought he was a bit odd.

But Andrew Allred got lucky. He met Tiffany Barwick, an attractive young women. The couple fell in love and Tiffany moved into Andrew's room that was attached to his family home. Tiffany and Andrew remained happy for several months. Their relationship lasted approximately one year.

On August 25, 2007, the couple celebrated Andrew's 21st birthday. They had a birthday party at the Allred family home. At that party, Tiffany Barwick suddenly and publicly ended her relationship with Andrew Allred. Understandably, Andrew Allred became extremely upset and distraught. In front of the party guests, Andrew went into a rage and began throwing Tiffany's clothes from the closet out into the front yard. Ultimately, the police were called to this domestic disturbance, but no arrests were made.

After Tiffany left Andrew and moved out, she became romantically

5

involved with Andrew's best friend, Michael Rushack. In the month that followed, Andrew stewed about the break up and Tiffany's subsequent involvement with his former best friend. During those thirty days, Andrew and Barwick, and Ruschak had emotional exchanges during internet chats, emails, and text messages. The exchanges became extremely hostile on the day of the murders. (I 129-143; State's Exhibits 46, 47, 48) Appellant also had an on-line conversation with a male friend indicating his frustration. (I 145-146; State's Exhibit 50) His anger began when he discovered the sexual relationship between Barwick and Ruschak.

(I 159-161; Defense Exhibit 1)

The Murders

On September 24, 2007, Steven McCavour and Eric Roberts were hosting a social gathering at their home at 130 Shady Oak. Michael Ruschak was also living at the house. Tiffany Barwick was also staying at the house on a temporary basis. Several other friends had gathered to watch a favorite television show and to cook some ribs. (III 30-44)

At some point in the evening, Michael Ruschak received a message from Andrew Allred. Ruschak announced to the group that Andrew was leaving his house and heading over to 130 Shady Oak Lane.² Since Tiffany and Michael knew that Allred was upset about their new relationship, some people in the group became fearful. There was a short discussion about what action to take. Some wanted to call the police, but they were unsure if Allred's threat was real or yet another empty one. Someone suggested calling Allred's mother to determine if had actually left his home. (III 105-106, 110-115, 124-125)

Within a matter of minutes (certainly less than ten) the group heard a loud banging in the front yard. The sound was Andrew Allred ramming Tiffany Barwick's car that was parked in the driveway. A minute later, the group heard Allred attempting to enter the front door. When that was unsuccessful, Allred went to the back of the house where he shot out the glass of the sliding back door. (III 45-50, 73-76, 105, 120-121)

The group began to scatter. Allred walked through the living room and found Michael Ruschak in the kitchen. Allred immediately fired four shots killing Ruschak instantly. (IV 316-321) At that point, Eric Roberts grabbed Allred from behind in a vain attempt to prevent further carnage. After a heated verbal exchange, Allred freed himself from Roberts' grasp by shooting Roberts in the back the calf. (III 50-55)

²Tiffany apparently also received an instant message from

Allred then went to the bathroom off the back bedroom where he found Tiffany Barwick standing in the tub talking on her cell phone with the 911 operator. Allred immediately fired six shots in rapid succession, killing Barwick instantaneously. (IV 321-327) Two of the bullets entered Barwick's back. (IV 327-333) The order of the shots and resulting wounds could not be determined for either victim. (IV 329-331) In both cases, the shots were fired in very fast order with no delay between each shot. (IV 333)

Appellant's Arrest

After fleeing the scene, Appellant called the Seminole County Sheriff's Office indicating that he was going to commit suicide. The department dispatched Deputy Kohn. Kohn found Appellant walking on a dirt road toward Allred's home at 1235 Oklahoma Street. Appellant's cell phone and weapon were found on the ground next to him. Appellant told the deputy, "I'm the guy you are looking for." (III 128) After Kohn arrested Appellant, Allred asked Kohn if the people were dead. Kohn replied that he could not provide that information and that there was a pending investigation. Once he was secured in the back of the police car, Allred stated, "I knew I killed someone, I shot fourteen times." (III 128, 183)

Appellant indicating that he was coming over. (III 110)

Allred's Confession

Following his arrest, Allred waived his constitutional rights and agreed to an interview with Detectives Weaver and Edwards of the Oviedo Police Department. (III 148-53) Before giving a statement, Appellant first wanted to know the condition of the people who were shot. (III 153-54) When asked, Appellant stated that he thought that only Tiffany Barwick and Michael Ruschak had been shot. (III 154) The detectives told Appellant that they were investigating the victims' condition. Appellant explained that Tiffany Barwick was his ex-girlfriend and that Michael Ruschak was his ex-best friend. (III 154) Appellant candidly admitted shooting both of them that day using a Springfield XB .45. (III 155)

Appellant told police that earlier that evening, Appellant went to dinner at Outback with a friend. He had one beer with dinner. He then went to Albertson's and bought some beer, which he claimed he did not drink. (III 156-57) Allred revealed that he had been fired from his Sea World computer corporate training job that same day. (III 167-168) Allred went home but soon decided to go over to the house where Tiffany Barwick was staying. Appellant drove his truck to that house where he preceded to ram Tiffany's white Cavalier automobile. Appellant explained that he went to the house specifically to accomplish this goal and not to shoot anyone. (III 158) Appellant could not explain why or exactly when he decided to go into the house to shoot Barwick and Ruschak. (III 159)

Appellant was able to enter the house when he shot out the glass in the sliding glass door in the rear of the home. (III 159) When he entered the living room, he saw several people, all of whom he knew. In addition to Tiffany Barwick and Michael Ruschak, Appellant saw Eric Roberts, whose father owned the house, Phillip Cammarata, Justin Kovacich, and another girl whom Appellant knew only as Lyla. (III 159)

Once he entered the house, Appellant searched out and found Michael Ruschak in the kitchen. Allred fired several shots in rapid succession killing Ruschak with a bullet to his chest. (III 161) At that point, Eric Roberts jumped on Appellant and tried to take his gun away. (III 160-61) Appellant then found Tiffany Barwick hiding in the bathroom where he shot her. (III 161-62) When the detectives asked, Appellant replied that he did not think that he shot anyone other than Michael or Tiffany. (III 162) Appellant left the house through the front door, got into his black Dodge Ram, and drove home with the gun inside the center console of the truck. (III 162-63) As he drove home following the shooting, Appellant called 911 and reported that people had been shot. (III 16869)

Allred explained to the detectives that Ruschak was his best friend from high school. (III 170-71) Appellant had hosted his own birthday party with Tiffany on August 25. Approximately fifty people attended. Much alcohol was consumed. Tiffany broke up with Appellant at that birthday party. This angered Appellant and he began to throw her personal belongings out into the street. It became so contentious that the police were called. (III 173-74) Their relationship had lasted one year. (III 174)

Allred told the detectives that after the shootings, he thought about suicide. Everything seemed to catch up with him at one time. He had no girlfriend, no friends, and had lost his job. (III 192) The interview concluded with Appellant again asking for information about the condition of the victims. (III 196-97)

The Case for Mitigation

The trial court concluded that the evidence established that Andrew Allred accepted responsibility for his actions. He entered a plea of guilty which saved the state of Florida at least some resources and money. (II 209-210) However, the trial court noted that the only real savings to the state was the fact that Appellant waived his right to a jury at the penalty phase after pleading guilty. Hence, the trial court gave little weight to this mitigating factor. The trial court failed to weigh that Appellant cooperated with police and immediately confessed. The court noted that, since the crimes had been committed in the presence of numerous witnesses, the case would not have been difficult to solve. (II 208-209) However, the trial court did assign moderate weight to the mitigating circumstance that Appellant cooperated with law enforcement when he immediately admitted shooting both victims. (II 209)

The trial court also accepted the fact that Appellant suffered from an emotional disturbance at the time of the murders. (II 209-210) Specifically, Appellant had been extremely distraught ever since Tiffany Barwick had rejected him be ending their year-long relationship. Tiffany then became involved in a romantic, sexual relationship with Appellant's best friend and first victim, Michael Ruschak. (II 209) The trial court did not consider the emotional disturbance to be extreme (thus qualifying as non-statutory rather than statutory mitigation). The court based his conclusion on the "careful thought and planning" of the murders as well as Appellant's demeanor during his videotaped confession. (II 209-210) As a result, the trial court assigned only moderate weight to this mitigating factor. (II 209-210)

In rejecting Appellant's emotional and developmental age at the time of the murders, the trial court relied on Appellant's chronological age of 21 at the

12

time of the murders; the fact that Appellant was a high school graduate who had earned a associate's degree; Appellant's proficiency with computer technology; and Appellant's high IQ of 130. (II 210)

The trial court did accept the fact that Appellant suffered developmental problems at the age of five or six which hindered his ability to develop socially. The trial judge accepted the fact that these problems may have contributed to his reaction to his break-up with Tiffany Barwick. (II 210) However, the trial court found no evidence that his developmental problems impacted his later education. The court based this conclusion on Appellant's ability to earn a high school diploma as well as an associate's degree.

Although the trial court made no mention of the evidence in his findings of fact, defense counsel presented evidence of Andrew's difficult childhood and family situation. (IV 344-400; V 404-450) Andrew was a happy baby. However, Appellant became a sad, withdrawn child with behavior problems when he was approximately six years old. (IV 346-348) Andrew also developed a well-established tic disorder. Andrew constantly licked his hand and then rubbed his eye. (IV 350) A psychiatrist confirmed the diagnosis.

A trip to the pediatrician followed. The pediatrician believed that Andrew had been sexually abused. (IV 351) The timing of all of these problems

corresponded with Andrew's close proximity to his paternal grandfather who was subsequently accused of sexually abusing other young male relatives. (IV 348-349, 360-363; V 405, 416-424) The allegation were serious enough, that police became involved. (IV 363) The trial court rejected the alleged sexual abuse as mitigating evidence, calling it "speculative" at best. (II 210)

About this same time, a psychiatrist diagnosed Andrew with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. (IV 353) The doctor prescribed Clonidine rather than the usually prescribed Ritalin. Children who took Ritalin sometime suffered a tic disorder. Since Andrew already suffered from a significant tic disorder, the doctor chose a different medication. (IV 353)

Andrew's father admitted that he had a drinking problem. (IV 396-399) His alcohol abuse led to domestic violence in the home. When Andrew was approximately twelve years old, his father came home intoxicated and began to wield a rifle. Andrew called 911, and the police were dispatched. His father was subsequently arrested and charged with battery. (IV 368-372)

In the third grade, Andrew's school performance declined. His teachers believed that he might have some type of learning disability. (IV 357-358) Subsequent testing revealed that he had a high IQ and he was eventually placed in the gifted program. (IV 359-3060) When Andrew was in middle school, his surrounding community changed. Many families associated with the University of Central Florida moved into the area. This resulted in a socio-economic divide between the rural students, such as Andrew, and the more affluent, intellectual families. During this time period, Andrew became more withdrawn and more of a loner. Additionally, he discontinued his participation in the gifted classes. (V 440-448) The more affluent students tended to pick on Andrew. They ridiculed him for wearing the same clothing two days in a row. Additionally, Andrew had no computer at home, which prevented him from completing his homework assignments. (V 449)

Andrew went to Oviedo High School through the eleventh grade. He then left high school and eventually obtained his high school diploma at Seminole Community College. (IV 363-364) Andrew's high school teacher noticed that he was very withdrawn. He did not interact with other children in his class at all. She called him a loner. "He was not like the other students." (V 430) This same teacher reacted with surprise when told that Andrew had been in gifted classes prior to being in her class. (V 431) Andrew's third grade teacher testified that, although Andrew made good grades, he was tired all the time. She worried when he slept through class and did not complete his homework. She described him as very withdrawn, very standoffish, with little participation in class and no interaction with other people, including the teacher. (V 435) She attempted to help Andrew, but noticed little change. (V 436-437)

After Andrew finished school, he lived in a room underneath his parents' home. His room was unusual, to say the least. There were no windows to let in light. The walls, ceiling, and floor were all painted black. People described it as very similar to a cave. (IV 365-368)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the neither murder was committed in a cold, calculated, premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Appellant shot and killed his estranged girlfriend and his former best friend who was dating Appellant's former love interest. Tiffany Barwick suddenly and publicly ended her year-long relationship with Appellant.

After stewing for a month, Appellant exploded. He had been fired from his job that day. At dinner, shortly before the murders, Appellant appeared suicidal. Later that night, Appellant drove the few minutes to the victims' locale, where he repeatedly rammed his ex-girlfriend's car with his truck. In a fit of rage, Appellant vainly attempted to enter the front door. He then entered the sliding back door by shooting out the glass. Ignoring numerous other guests, Appellant found Michael Ruschak, his former best friend, and immediately shot him to death. Appellant then went to the back bathroom where he shot his Tiffany Barwick numerous times, killing her immediately.

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