IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-2354

ANDREW RICHARD ALLRED,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar #410519
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(V2, R210-211).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in rejecting the proposed mitigation of sexual abuse because there was no competent evidence to support that mitigator. The only testimony regarding this issue was from Allred's mother

who said that around age 6 Allred became hyper and emotional, "just kind of a different child." (V4, PP347, 348). Allred's paternal grandparents lived in a mother-in-law suite attached to their home in Winter Park. They occasionally babysat Allred and his brothers. (V4, PP347, 348-49). When Allred's behavior changed, Tora took him to the pediatrician. The pediatrician thought Allred might have been sexually abused. (V4, PP351). Allred never claimed he had been sexually abused. (V4, PP387). Allred's paternal cousin William, who was fifteen years older than Allred, claimed he had been sexually abused by their paternal grandfather and great-uncle. (V4, PP361, 386). The grandfather and great-uncle denied the allegation. (V4, PP392).

A trial judge does not abuse his discretion when the evidence does not support mitigation. *See Frances v. State*, 970 So. 2d 806, 819 (Fla. 2007). It is within the trial court's discretion to decide whether a mitigating circumstance is proven. *Pardo v. State*, 563 So. 2d 77, 80 (Fla.1990); *Scull v. State*, 533 So. 2d 1137, 1143 (Fla.1988); *Teffeteller v. State*, 439 So. 2d 840, 846 (Fla.1983). As the trial judge found, the evidence of sexual abuse was speculative.

4. Weight given developmental problems. This argument involves the sexual abuse argument in #3 above. The trial judge held:

OTHER FACTORS IN THE DEFENDANT'S RECORD AND BACKGROUND AS WELL AS OTHER FACTORS RELEVANT TO THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CRIMES, INCLUDING LIKELY SEXUAL ABUSE AS A CHILD, DEVELOPMENTAL

PROBLEMS AT THE AGE OF FIVE OR SIX THAT IMPACTED HIS EDUCATIONAL ABILITIES AND HIS ABILITY TO DEVELOP SOCIALLY.

There is no credible evidence that the defendant suffered sexual abuse as a child. No witness testified that the defendant was sexually abused and the suggestion that he was is speculative at best. The developmental problem at age five or six appears to have hindered the defendant's ability to develop socially and that may have contributed to his reaction to his break-up with Tiffany Barwick and to that extent, the court finds this mitigating factor to have been established. There is no evidence that this developmental problem caused impact to his later education. The defendant obtained a high school diploma, an A.A. degree and a high level of skill in computer technology. The court assigns little weight to the defendant's developmental problem.

(V2, R210-211).

This Court reviews the weight the trial court ascribes to mitigating factors under the abuse of discretion standard and will not reweigh these mitigators. *See Smith v. State*, 998 So. 2d516, 527 (Fla.2008). Although Allred disputes the trial court's fact findings, these findings are supported by the record.

As to the developmental problems at age 5 or 6, Allred's mother testified he was a normal, happy baby. (V5, PP344, 346-47). At age six, his behavior "suddenly" changed. He became hyper and emotional, "just kind of a different child." (V4, PP347, 348). When Allred's behavior changed, the mother took him to a pediatrician. (V4, PP351). The pediatrician referred Allred to a psychiatrist. (V4, PP349). The psychiatrist diagnosed Allred with a "well defined tic disorder" and "ADHD." Allred was prescribed Clonidine. (V4, PP350, 353). He has never been

diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder. (V4, PP387).

Rose Davis taught Allred in the third grade. (V5, PP433-34). He made good grades but was tired all the time and fell asleep in class. He did not do his homework and was very withdrawn. He did not participate in class or interact with her or his classmates. (V5, PP435). She had a conference with Allred's mother, but she did not see an improvement. (V5, PP437).

Sue Leidner taught Allred in the gifted classes in sixth and seventh grade. (V5, PP441, 445). Allred was very quiet, "a gentle soul." (V5, PP445). He never took a leadership role. He was a loner and was not verbal. (V5, PP446). At times, the other students picked on him. (V5, PP449).

Susan Turner taught Allred in her web design class. (V5, PP429-30). He was an average student, quiet, and never had to be disciplined. He was different than other students. He was a loner and withdrawn and did not interact with his classmates. (V5, PP430).

The trial court found that Allred's developmental difficulties affected him socially and may have contributed to his reaction when Tiffany broke up with him. These findings are supported by the record.

As to the impact developmental problems had on his education, Allred's mother testified that Allred did well when he first started school. (V4, PP354, 357). In third grade, it was determined Allred had a learning disability and was

subsequently placed in learning disabled classes. (V4, PP358-59). After he tested with a high IQ, Allred was placed in gifted classes. (V4, PP359-60). Allred attended college and received a two-year degree in accounting. His job was to show people how to use software for car and RV dealerships. (V4, PP385). The trial court finding that developmental problems had no significant impact on Allred's later education is supported by the record.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding and weighing these mitigating circumstances. This Court defers to the trial court's determination "unless no reasonable person would have assigned the weight the trial court did." *Rodgers v. State*, 948 So. 2d655, 669 (Fla. 2006).

5. Fail to mention father's alcohol problems and domestic disputes.

Allred claims the trial judge failed to consider this mitigation, but provides no record cite to support this argument. The trial judge addressed verbatim each mitigating circumstance presented in Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum in Support of a Life Sentence. (V1, R180-181). The trial judge did mention the fathers alcohol abuse in the narrative history part of the sentencing order. Alcoholism was never presented as an independent and separate mitigating factor. Allred's developmental age, developmental problems, and ability to develop socially were all considered. There is nothing in *Campbell* that requires a trial judge to list every fact presented. The trial judge complied with *Campbell* and

addressed each mitigator presented in the sentencing memo. Error, if any, was harmless considering the detailed sentencing order and minimal significance of this mitigation compared to the aggravating circumstances. *Doorbal v. State*, 837 So. 2d940, 960 (Fla. 2003); *Hurst v. State*, 819 So. 2d689, 699 (Fla. 2002).

6. Reject age of 21 as mitigation. The trial judge found:

THE DEFENDANT'S EMOTIONAL AND DEVELOPMENTAL AGE AT THE TIME OF THE MURDERS.

The defendant was 21 years of age at the time of the murders. He was a high school graduate who held an A.A. degree and was proficient with computer technology. He had a high I.Q. of approximately 130. There is no credible evidence that would establish the defendant's emotional age was less than his chronological age. The defendant did not present any evidence that he had undergone a mental evaluation and no expert testified that he was less than 21 years of age emotionally. Accordingly, the court finds this mitigating circumstance not to have been established. *Lebron v. State*, 982 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 2008).

(V2, R210).

As this Court recently summarized with regard to the mitigating circumstance of age:

[W]here the defendant is not a minor, as in the instant case, "no per se rule exists which pinpoints a particular age as an automatic factor in mitigation." [Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d837, 843 (Fla.1997)]. The existence and weight to be given to this mitigator depends on the evidence presented at trial and the sentencing hearing. See id. For example, this Court has held that age twenty, in and of itself, does not require a finding of the age mitigator. See Garcia v. State, 492 So. 2d360, 367 (Fla.1986).

In Gudinas v. State, 693 So. 2d953 (Fla.1997), we held, "Although

Gudinas is certainly correct that he had a troubling past and had always been small for his age, there was no evidence presented that he was unable to take responsibility for his acts and appreciate the consequences thereof at the time of the murders." *Id.* at 967. In that case, we found that there was substantial, competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding "that Gudinas was mentally and emotionally mature enough that his age should not be considered as a mitigator." *Id.*

Floyd v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S359 (Fla. June 4, 2009), quoting Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d514, 528-29 (Fla.2003). In Nelson, this Court upheld the lower court's rejection of the age mitigator and concluded that evidence demonstrated the maturity of the defendant based on the following considerations:

[H]e obtained and temporarily held a job; he provided his child's mother with money to buy necessities when she was visiting; Nelson did not have a home of his own, but arranged to stay with [others]; and Nelson did not have a driver's license or a car, yet was able to travel places on his own.

Nelson at 529. This Court has further expounded on the age factor:

The determination of whether age is a mitigating factor depends on the circumstances of each case, and is within the trial court's discretion. *Scull v. State*, 533 So. 2d1137, 1143 (Fla.1988). Under our review for abuse of discretion, we will uphold the trial court's determination unless it is "arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable," so that no reasonable person would adopt the trial court's view. *Canakaris v. Canakaris*, 382 So. 2d1197, 1203 (Fla.1980). This Court has frequently held that a sentencing court may decline to find age as a mitigating factor in cases where the defendants were twenty to twenty-five years old at the time their offenses were committed. *See Garcia v. State*, 492 So. 2d360, 367 (Fla.1986); *Mills v. State*, 476 So. 2d172, 179 (Fla.1985). The court found that Caballero committed the crime at the age of twenty. The court considered Caballero's age in light of the evidence presented, including the results of psychological tests. The court concluded that Caballero did not demonstrate a lack of

mental or emotional maturity, nor did Caballero demonstrate that he was unable to take responsibility or appreciate the consequences of his acts. In light of the record below, we conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting Caballero's age as a mitigating factor.

Caballero v. State, 851 So. 2d655, 661 -662 (Fla. 2003).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by considering the evidence and finding age was not mitigating. *See Frances v. State*, 970 So. 2d 806, 819 (Fla. 2007). It is within the trial court's discretion to decide whether a mitigating circumstance is proven. *Pardo v. State*, 563 So. 2d 77, 80 (Fla.1990); *Scull v. State*, 533 So. 2d 1137, 1143 (Fla.1988); *Teffeteller v. State*, 439 So. 2d 840, 846 (Fla. 1983).

B. Proportionality. Allred claims his death sentence is not proportional. (Initial Brief at 47). In deciding whether a death sentence is proportionate, this Court must consider the totality of the circumstances and compare the case with other capital cases. *See Sexton v. State*, 775 So. 2d 923, 935 (Fla. 2000). This analysis "is not a comparison between the number of aggravating and mitigating circumstances." *Porter v. State*, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990). Instead, this Court must look to the nature of and the weight given to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. For purposes of proportionality review, this Court accepts the jury's recommendation and the trial judge's weighing of the aggravating and mitigating evidence. *Bates v. State*, 750 So. 2d 6, 12 (Fla. 1999).

Allred argues that his death sentence is not proportional because the murders were the product of a domestic dispute. (Initial Brief at 49). Allred acknowledges that this Court has repeatedly held that there is no "domestic dispute" exception to the death sentence. As this Court has explained:

Upon review, we find that the imposition of the death penalty in this case is proportionately warranted. While the evidence reveals a close, almost familial type of relationship between Evans and Johnson, this factor alone does not render Evans' death sentence disproportionate. As we explained in Spencer v. State, 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1996), "this Court has never approved a 'domestic dispute' exception to imposition of the death penalty." Id. at 1065; see also Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 412 (Fla. 2000); Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488, 493 (Fla. 1998).FN6 In some murders that result from domestic disputes, we have determined that the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance (CCP) was erroneously found because the heated passions involved were antithetical to "cold" deliberation. See Santos v. State, 591 So. 2d 160, 162-63 (Fla. 1991) (concluding that the CCP aggravator was not applicable where the defendant was involved in an ongoing, highly emotional domestic dispute with victim and her family, even though he had acquired a gun in advance and made previous death threats against victim; concluding that murder was not "cold" even though it may have appeared to be calculated); Douglas v. State, 575 So. 2d 165, 167 (Fla. 1991) (same as to killing that arose from a domestic dispute associated with a lover's triangle). "However, we have only reversed the death penalty if the striking of the CCP aggravator results in the death sentence being disproportionate." Spencer, 691 So. 2d at 1065. Instead, our proportionality analysis properly "focuses on whether death is a proportionate penalty after considering the totality of the circumstances in a particular case." Blackwood, 777 So. 2d at 412.

FN6. To the extent that the proportionality analysis in *Blakely* v. *State*, 561 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1990), and *Wilson* v. *State*, 493 So. 2d1019 (Fla. 1986), rests on a "domestic dispute exception to imposition of the death penalty" that this Court has disavowed in *Spencer* and subsequent cases, we recede from

Blakely and Wilson.

Evans v. State, 838 So. 2d 1090, 1098 (Fla. 2002). More recently, this Court clarified that the domestic-violence "exception" to the death penalty is unfortunate history. *Floyd v. State*, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S359 (Fla. June 4, 2009).

This case involves a double homicide. The trial judge found three aggravating circumstances for the murder of Michael Ruschak: cold, calculated, and premeditated; during a burglary; and prior violent felony (contemporaneous murder of Tiffany Barwick) (V2, R205-06). The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances for the murder of Tiffany Barwick: heinous, atrocious, and cruel; cold, calculated, and premeditated; during a burglary; and prior violent felony (contemporaneous murder of Michael Ruschak) (V2, R206-208). The trial judge gave little weight to acceptance of responsibility, and sexual abuse/developmental difficulties/social development. The trial judge gave moderate weight to cooperation with law enforcement and emotional disturbance.

Both the HAC and CCP aggravators are "two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme." *Buzia v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1216 (Fla. 2006). Similarly, the prior violent felony aggravator is regarded as one of the weightiest aggravators. *See Jones v. State*, 998 So. 2d573 (Fla. 2008). In the present case, that prior violent felony was murder.

This case is proportionate to other homicides involving two victims and

similar aggravating and mitigating circumstances. *See Aguirre-Jarquin v. State*, 9 So. 3d 593 (Fla. 2009); *Buzia v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1216 (Fla. 2006); *Reynolds v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 2006); *Lynch v. State*, 841 So. 2d 362, 378 (Fla. 2003); *Smithers v. State*, 826 So. 2d 916, 931 (Fla. 2002); *Morton v. State*, 789 So. 2d 324, 328-29 (Fla. 2001). The State also notes that this Court has upheld death sentences where the prior violent felony aggravator was the only one present. *See*, *e.g.*, *Rodgers v. State*, 948 So. 2d 655 (Fla. 2006); *LaMarca v. State*, 785 So. 2d 1209, 1217 (Fla. 2001); *Ferrell v. State*, 680 So. 2d 390, 391 (Fla. 1996).

C. Sufficiency of the evidence. Although not raised by Allred, this Court will always review the record of a death penalty case to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to support the murder conviction. Winkles v. State, 894 So. 2d 842, 847 (Fla. 2005). In the present case, Allred pled guilty. When a defendant has pled guilty to the charges resulting in a penalty of death, this Court's review shifts to the knowing, intelligent, and voluntary nature of that plea. Id. (quoting Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 375 (Fla. 2003). There is no claim the guilty plea was involuntary or the plea colloquy was deficient.

CONCLUSION

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